No. 47835-8-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

**Edward Wilkins,**

Appellant.

---

Cowlitz County Superior Court Cause No. 14-1-01082-3

The Honorable Judge Michael H. Evans

**Appellant's Opening Brief**

Jodi R. Backlund  
Manek R. Mistry  
Skylar T. Brett  
Attorneys for Appellant

**BACKLUND & MISTRY**

P.O. Box 6490  
Olympia, WA 98507  
(360) 339-4870  
backlundmistry@gmail.com

**

## **ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. The court violated Mr. Wilkins's Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment right to be free from double jeopardy by entering convictions for two offenses based on a single act.
2. The court violated Mr. Wilkins's Wash. Const. art. I, § 9 right to be free from double jeopardy by entering convictions for two offenses based on a single act.
3. Mr. Wilkins's rape of a child and child molestation convictions constituted the same offense for double jeopardy purposes.

**ISSUE 1:** Two offenses are the same for double jeopardy purposes if the evidence necessary to convict for one is also sufficient to convict for the other. Did the court violate Mr. Wilkins's right to be free from double jeopardy by entering convictions for both rape of a child and child molestation based on evidence of a single act of penetration?

4. Prosecutorial misconduct deprived Mr. Wilkins of his Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial.
5. The prosecutor committed misconduct by arguing that Mr. Wilkins's statements regarding his constitutional rights constituted evidence of guilt.
6. The prosecutor's misconduct was flagrant and ill-intentioned.

**ISSUE 2:** A prosecutor commits misconduct by arguing that an accused person's exercise of his/her constitutional rights is evidence of guilt. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct by arguing that the jury should infer Mr. Wilkins's guilt based on his statements that he did not believe the state had enough evidence to convict him?

7. The prosecutor committed misconduct by appealing to the jury's passion and prejudice.
8. The prosecutor's misconduct was flagrant and ill-intentioned.

**ISSUE 3:** A prosecutor may not encourage a jury to convict based on passion and prejudice. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct by telling the jury that Mr. Wilkins was not participating in a “fair fight” against the alleged child victim and that they should excuse weaknesses in her testimony because more time on the stand would have been difficult for her?

9. The court abused its discretion by admitting N.H.’s statements about Mr. Wilkins’s alleged prior sex offenses.
10. Having excluded reference to Mr. Wilkins’s alleged prior sex offenses under ER 404(b), the trial court erred by refusing to redact N.H.’s videotaped statements alleging that Mr. Wilkins had done “bad things” to “lots of kids.”
11. The court’s application of ER 404(b) was manifestly unreasonable.

**ISSUE 4:** ER 404(b) prohibits the admission of propensity evidence. Did the court abuse its discretion by admitting N.H.’s statements that Mr. Wilkins had done “bad things” to “lots of kids”?

12. Mr. Wilkins was denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel.
13. Mr. Wilkins’s attorney provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to seek redaction of Exhibit 3.
14. Having obtained a ruling excluding all reference to Mr. Wilkins’s prior incarceration, defense counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to seek redaction of documents showing that he’d received medical care while in prison.

**ISSUE 5:** Defense counsel provides ineffective assistance by failing to object to inadmissible evidence absent a valid strategic reason. Did Mr. Wilkins’s attorney provide ineffective assistance by failing to seek redaction of an exhibit clearly indicating that he had been in prison, after successfully arguing for the exclusion of all evidence of prior incarceration?



## **STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS**

Edward Wilkins was briefly married to Kyra Wilkins in 2008. RP 364-365. Ms. Wilkins's four children, including her daughter N.H. lived with the couple before and during their marriage. RP 364-365.

N.H. was diagnosed with genital herpes in 2008 when she was three and a half years old. RP 466; Ex. 2. Her doctor suspected that the disease had been caused by sexual abuse. Ex. 2, p. 1. He acknowledged, however, that there could also have been a benign explanation. Ex. 2, p. 1.

N.H. was interviewed by a child forensic interviewer in 2011. RP 406. N.H. did not make any disclosures warranting further action. RP 406-407.

She was interviewed again in 2014. RP 287. At that interview, she alleged that Mr. Wilkins had raped her. RP 301-303. She described a single incident of penile-vaginal penetration occurring when Mr. Wilkins had lived with her family six years earlier. RP 325-326. She did not allege any other inappropriate touching before or after that episode. RP 331-332.

During the interview, N.H. said that Mr. Wilkins did "bad things to kids." RP 302. She said that he had done the same thing to lots of other

children. RP 303. She said he had done it to older children and had probably done it to children younger than her as well. RP 303-304.

Still, N.H. maintained that she had not talked to anyone else about the allegations. RP 333-334.

Following this interview, a detective located Mr. Wilkins and confronted him about the allegation. RP 511-512. The detective had already obtained a search warrant for Mr. Wilkins's medical records, and knew that he had been diagnosed with herpes five years after the alleged incident. RP 511.

Mr. Wilkins told the detective that his positive herpes test was not enough evidence that he had done anything wrong. RP 515.

The state charged Mr. Wilkins with rape of a child in the first degree. CP 9.

The court held a child hearsay hearing on the admissibility of the video of N.H.'s 2014 interview. RP 13-177. The court found that N.H. and her mother did not appear to have been truthful regarding how much they had discussed the allegations before the 2014 interview. CP 6-7. Nonetheless, the court ruled that the entire video was admissible under the child hearsay statute. CP 8.

One the eve of trial, the state amended the charging document to add a charge of child molestation in the first degree. RP 232-235; CP 9.

The prosecutor acknowledged that the child molestation charge was based on the same single incident as the rape charge. RP 232-233. The prosecutor recognized that convictions for both charges would merge for double jeopardy purposes. RP 233.

The state moved pretrial to admit Mr. Wilkins's prior sex offense convictions under ER 404(b). RP 193. Mr. Wilkins objected, and the court denied the state's motion. RP 228. The court ruled that the previous offenses were not substantially similar to the current allegation and that any probative value of the evidence was far outweighed by the risk of unfair prejudice. RP 228-229.

Even so, the court denied Mr. Wilkins's motion to redact N.H.'s interview video to remove her references to Mr. Wilkins having done similar things to other children. RP 267-272. The court reasoned that another judge had ruled the entire video admissible following the child hearsay hearing, so the whole video would be admitted. RP 272.

Mr. Wilkins moved to exclude any evidence that he had been incarcerated before. RP 254-262. The court granted the motion, and excluded evidence that Mr. Wilkins's 2013 herpes test had happened while he was in prison. RP 256. The parties and court spoke at length about how they would sanitize the testimony of the physician's assistant who conducted the test. RP 256-258.

The court also granted Mr. Wilkins's motion to exclude evidence that his police interview had taken place while he was incarcerated. RP 259-262.

Mr. Wilkins's attorney agreed to the admission of the documentary evidence of Mr. Wilkins's herpes test. RP 286; Ex. 3. On the first page, Exhibit 3 indicates that the test was conducted at Monroe Correctional Facility. Ex 3, p. 1. Each of the two remaining pages are on Department of Corrections stationery with the department logo on the bottom. Ex 3, pp. 2-3. Defense counsel did not move to redact any of the information showing that his client had been previously incarcerated. RP 286.

During closing, the prosecutor argued that the jury should infer guilt from Mr. Wilkins's statement that the detective did not have enough evidence of his guilt. RP 558. The prosecutor told jurors that saying "that's not enough evidence" is different than saying "I didn't do it." RP 558.

He continued:

A detective is talking to you about an investigation and he points this fact out, and your response – his response is 'That's not enough evidence.' That's a pretty incriminating statement.

RP 558-559.

In rebuttal closing, the prosecutor addressed defense arguments about shortcomings in the state's evidence:

... that's really not a fair fight for a defense attorney to parse out a child's words with such great specificity ... she's only in the fifth grade.  
RP 600-601.

The prosecutor went on to argue that asking N.H. more questions would have been cruel:

"You know, [N.H.] had to get in here and testify, at ten years old, about being raped, in front of the man who did it. How difficult would that be? So Defense complains we didn't ask her about her nightmares she was having about it. I think she was in here for long enough."  
RP 606.

The jury found Mr. Wilkins guilty of both rape of a child and child molestation. CP 30-31. The court entered convictions for both offenses and sentenced Mr. Wilkins for both. CP 44, 50.

This timely appeal follows. CP 61.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. MR. WILKINS'S CONVICTIONS FOR BOTH RAPE OF A CHILD AND CHILD MOLESTATION VIOLATE DOUBLE JEOPARDY BECAUSE BOTH WERE BASED ON A SINGLE ACT OF PENETRATION.**

Initially, the prosecutor acknowledged that the child molestation charge would be dismissed if the jury convicted Mr. Wilkins of both child

molestation and rape of a child. RP 233. The state agreed that a single act supported both charges. RP 232-233.

Still, the court entered convictions and sentences against Mr. Wilkins for both charges. CP 44, 50. By doing so, the court violated Mr. Wilkins's right to be free from double jeopardy. *In re Orange*, 152 Wn.2d 795, 815, 100 P.3d 291 (2004).

Both the Washington state and federal constitutions prohibit multiple punishments for a single offense. U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV; art. I, § 9; *Orange*, 152 Wn.2d at 815.<sup>1</sup> The *Blockburger*<sup>2</sup> or “same evidence” test controls the double jeopardy analysis unless there is a clear indication that the legislature intended otherwise. *Womac*, 160 Wn.2d at 652. Under the *Blockburger* test, multiple convictions based on a single act violate double jeopardy if the evidence necessary to support a conviction for one offense would also have been sufficient to support a conviction for the other. *Orange*, 152 Wn.2d at 816.

---

<sup>1</sup> Double jeopardy violations are constitutional issues reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Womac*, 160 Wn.2d 643, 649, 160 P.3d 40 (2007). Double jeopardy violations constitute manifest error affecting a constitutional right, which can be raised for the first time on appeal. *State v. Turner*, 102 Wn. App. 202, 206, 6 P.3d 1226 (2000); RAP 2.5(a)(3).

<sup>2</sup> *Blockburger v. United States*, 284 U.S. 299, 304, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed. 306 (1932).

The legal elements of the offenses are not dispositive of the *Blockburger* test for double jeopardy. *Womac*, 160 Wn.2d at 652<sup>3</sup>. In order to constitute separate offenses, two crimes must each include an element not included in the other *and* must each require proof of a fact that the other does not. *State v. Hughes*, 166 Wn.2d 675, 682, 212 P.3d 558 (2009).

Mr. Wilkins's child molestation and rape convictions constituted the same offense for double jeopardy purposes. The two offenses involved a single act of penetration, and were based on the same evidence. *Orange*, 152 Wn.2d at 816.

To convict Mr. Wilkins for rape of a child, the state was required to prove that he engaged in intercourse with N.H. RCW 9A.44.073. To convict for child molestation, the state was required to prove sexual contact with N.H. RCW 9A.44.083.<sup>4</sup>

Proof that Mr. Wilkins engaged in intercourse with N.H. was sufficient to prove that he engaged in sexual contact. Indeed, that is the only evidence the state presented to prove that Mr. Wilkins engaged in

---

<sup>3</sup> See also *Orange*, 152 Wn.2d at 820 (holding that, because the offenses were both based on the single act of firing one shot at another person, attempted murder and assault constituted the same offense despite different legal elements); *State v. Martin*, 149 Wn. App. 689, 699, 205 P.3d 931 (2009) (finding that convictions for assault and attempted rape violated double jeopardy despite different legal elements).

<sup>4</sup> Sexual contact means any touching of the sexual or intimate parts for the purpose of gratifying sexual desire. RCW 9A.44.010(2).

child molestation. As such, the jury incontrovertibly convicted him for both offenses based on the same evidence.

The evidence necessary to convict Mr. Wilkins of rape of a child was also sufficient to convict him of child molestation. His conviction and sentence for both violated his right to be free from double jeopardy. *Orange*, 152 Wn.2d at 816.

Differences in the legal elements legal elements are not dispositive. *Womac*, 160 Wn.2d at 652. Here, the state proved both offenses using exactly the same facts.<sup>5</sup> *Id*; RCW 9A.44.010(2); RCW 9A.44.073; RCW 9A.44.083.

---

<sup>5</sup> More than two decades ago, Division I held that differences in the elements of rape of a child and child molestation prevented the two offenses from merging. *State v. Jones*, 71 Wn. App. 798, 824-25; 863 P.2d 85 (1993). But *Jones* was decided before the Supreme Court clarified that any difference in the legal elements is not dispositive when the evidence necessary to prove one offense is sufficient to prove the other. *Orange*, 152 Wn.2d at 816; *Womac*, 160 Wn.2d at 652.

*Jones* was implicitly overruled by *Orange* and *Womac*.

Division I has also implied in *dicta* that rape by means of penetration is never the same offense as molestation, because “the touching of sexual parts for sexual gratification constitutes molestation up until the point of actual penetration.” *State v. Land*, 172 Wn. App. 593, 600, 295 P.3d 782 (2013).

*Land* should not control here. First, the *Land* court was faced with separate acts of molestation and penetration; the quoted language is *dicta*, with no precedential value. Second, the *Land* court’s assumption is also belied by the facts of Mr. Wilkins’s case in which there was no evidence of any sexual contact prior to the penetration itself. Third, the *Land dicta* would not resolve the double jeopardy issue in Mr. Wilkins’s case, because the court did not instruct jurors to base convictions for the two charges on separate and distinct acts. CP 11-29; see *State v. Mutch*, 171 Wn.2d 646, 661, 254 P.3d 803 (2011). Accordingly, the jury convicted Mr. Wilkins for both offenses based on the single act of penetration, which was not preceded or followed by any other touching.



Mr. Wilkins's conviction for both rape of a child and child molestation violated the prohibition against double jeopardy. *Womac*, 160 Wn.2d at 652. His conviction for child molestation must be vacated. *Id.*

## **II. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT DEPRIVED MR. WILKINS OF A FAIR TRIAL.**

Prosecutorial misconduct can deprive the accused of a fair trial. *In re Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d 696, 703-704, 286 P.3d 673 (2012); U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV, Wash. Const. art. I, § 22. To determine whether a prosecutor's misconduct warrants reversal, the court looks at its prejudicial nature and cumulative effect. *State v. Boehning*, 127 Wn. App. 511, 518, 111 P.3d 899 (2005). A prosecutor's improper statements prejudice the accused if they create a substantial likelihood that the verdict was affected. *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 704. The inquiry must look to the misconduct and its impact, not the evidence that was properly admitted. *Id.* at 711.

Prosecutorial misconduct during argument can be particularly prejudicial. There is a risk that jurors will lend it special weight “not only because of the prestige associated with the prosecutor's office but also because of the fact-finding facilities presumably available to the office.” *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 706 (quoting commentary to the *American Bar Association Standards for Criminal Justice* std. 3-5.8).

Prosecutorial misconduct requires reversal, even absent an objection below, if it is so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the resulting prejudice. *State v. Pierce*, 169 Wn. App. 533, 552, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012). The misconduct here was flagrant and ill-intentioned, and could not have been cured.

A. The prosecutor committed misconduct by arguing that jurors could infer guilt from Mr. Wilkins’s statements regarding his rights to a jury trial and to due process.

During closing argument, the prosecutor argued that the jury should infer Mr. Wilkins’s guilt based on his statement that the police did not have enough evidence to convict him. RP 558. The prosecutor said that saying “that’s not enough evidence” is different than saying “I didn’t do it.” RP 558. He continued:

A detective is talking to you about an investigation and he points this fact out, and your response – his response is ‘That’s not enough evidence.’ That’s a pretty incriminating statement. RP 558-559.

The state and federal constitutions guarantee the right to a jury trial. U.S. Const. Amends. VI; XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 21, 22; *State v. Williams-Walker*, 167 Wn.2d 889, 895, 225 P.3d 913 (2010).<sup>6</sup> Due process entitles an accused person to require the state to prove each

---

<sup>6</sup> The state constitutional right “shall remain inviolate” and is more extensive than the federal right. Art. I, §§ 21, 22; *Williams-Walker*, 167 Wn.2d at 895.

element of each charge against him/her. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970); U.S. Const Amend. XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, § 3.

A prosecutor commits misconduct by arguing that an accused person's exercise of his/her constitutional rights constitutes evidence of guilt. *State v. Pinson*, 183 Wn. App. 411, 417, 333 P.3d 528 (2014). An accused person's exercise of his/her constitutional rights is not evidence of guilt. *State v. Silva*, 119 Wn. App. 422, 428-429, 81 P.3d 889 (2003). Due process prohibits the state from inviting the jury to infer that the accused is more likely guilty because of the exercise of his/her constitutional rights. *Id.*

Here, the prosecutor improperly argued that the jury should infer Mr. Wilkins's guilt based on his expression of his intent to hold the state to its constitutional burden. RP 558-559. The prosecutor's argument that Mr. Wilkins's assertion of that right was evidence of his guilt constituted misconduct. *Id.*; *Pinson*, 183 Wn. App. at 417.

An inference of guilt resting on exercise of a constitutional right "always adds weight to the prosecution's case and is always, therefore, unfairly prejudicial."<sup>7</sup> *Silva*, 119 Wn. App. at 429.

---

<sup>7</sup> Once such an improper comment has been made, "the bell is hard to unring." *State v. Holmes*, 122 Wn. App. 438, 446, 93 P.3d 212 (2004). The situation puts defense counsel in

The evidence of Mr. Wilkins's guilt was not overwhelming. During her first forensic interview, N.H. did not claim that Mr. Wilkins had harmed her. RP 406-407. The court expressed doubts about her veracity and that of her mother. CP 6-7.

In this context, the prosecutor chose to take Mr. Wilkins's innocuous (and constitutionally protected) words and argue that they were affirmative evidence of his guilt. RP 558-559. The prosecutor pointed out that Mr. Wilkins had not declared his innocence. RP 558. Instead, he had called attention to the fact that he did not think the state could prove its case against him. RP 558-559.

Mr. Wilkins's statement on the exercise of his rights was not evidence of guilt. There is a substantial likelihood that the prosecutor's argument that it was a "pretty incriminating statement" affected the outcome of the trial. *Silva*, 119 Wn. App. at 429.

A prosecutor's explicit argument that an accused person's exercise of his/her constitutional rights constitutes evidence guilt cannot be remedied by a curative instruction. *Pinson*, 183 Wn. App. at 419. The prosecutor's improper argument in Mr. Wilkins's case constitutes flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct. *Id.*

---

the difficult position of gambling on whether to ask for a curative instruction "—a course of action which frequently does more harm than good" – or ignoring the comment. *Id.*

The prosecutor committed flagrant, ill-intentioned, prejudicial misconduct by arguing that Mr. Wilkins's exercise of his constitutional rights to a jury trial and to due process constituted evidence of his guilt. *Silva*, 119 Wn. App. at 429; *Pinson*, 183 Wn. App. at 419. His convictions must be reversed and his case remanded for a new trial. *Id.*

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