#### NO. 47835-8-II

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

#### **DIVISION II**

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

**EDWARD WILKINS,** 

Appellant.

**RESPONDENT'S BRIEF** 

RYAN JURVAKAINEN
Prosecuting Attorney
ERIC BENTSON/WSBA 38471
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Representing Respondent

HALL OF JUSTICE 312 SW FIRST KELSO, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080

#### **

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

Because Wilkins argued that the State had not asked N.H. about her nightmares in an effort to suggest she had not had them, it was a reasonable response for the prosecutor to argue for another reason why she was not asked to testify about them.

Additionally, because Wilkins did not object, he must also show that the prosecutor's statement could not have been addressed with a curative instruction and that the alleged misconduct resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict. If the words "fair fight," regardless of surrounding context as Wilkins now asserts, were of themselves prejudicial, then an objection and a curative instruction would have been sufficient to alleviate any prejudice. Further, because N.H.'s testimony to having been raped by Wilkins was strongly corroborated by the fact that they both shared a sexually transmitted disease that is passed by genital-to-genital contact, it is not reasonable to conclude that the alleged prejudicial statement had any impact on the outcome of the trial. Thus, when he failed to object, Wilkins waived his claim of prosecutor misconduct.

C. BECAUSE STATEMENTS ON THE VIDEO WERE NOT EXCLUDED BY THE COURT'S ER 404(B) RULING, WILKINS FAILED TO PRESERVE THIS ISSUE FOR REVIEW, AND N.H.'S STATEMENTS WERE ADMISSIBLE AS TO HER STATE OF MIND.

Because N.H.'s statements on the video were not a part of the court's earlier ER 404(b) ruling, and Wilkins did not object to them independently under ER 404(b), he failed to preserve this issue for review; further, because the statements were better understood as expressions of N.H.'s state of mind rather than actual instances of prior misconduct, they were not subject to an ER 404(b) analysis. "A party may only assign error in the appellate court on the specific ground of the evidentiary objection made at trial." State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 422, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985). Wilkins argument should be rejected for two reasons: First, because N.H.'s statements were not part of the court's earlier ER 404(b) ruling, and the court's earlier ER 404(b) ruling was the sole basis of Wilkins' objection, he failed to preserve this issue for review.7 Second, N.H.'s statements did not introduce any substantive evidence of other bad acts, but rather were indicative of her state of mind, which was relevant to her credibility.

1. Because N.H.'s statements were not included in the court's ER 404(b) ruling, and Wilkins did not object on any other basis at trial, he failed to preserve this issue for review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In his brief, Wilkins' argues that the prior ER 404(b) ruling prohibited these statements, now he makes the same argument on appeal. *Appellant's Brief* at 18. Yet the court specifically drew the distinction that its earlier ER 404(b) ruling was related to Wilkins' prior conviction rather than N.H.'s statements during the interview. RP at 272. Wilkins is essentially arguing the court's ruling was not the court's ruling.

Because N.H.'s statements were not part of the evidence the court ruled on when the State sought to introduce evidence under ER 404(b), and Wilkins did not object to their admission on any other basis, he failed to preserve this issue for review. "A party who objects to the admission of evidence on one ground at trial may not on appeal assert a different ground for excluding that evidence. And a theory not presented to the trial court may not be considered on appeal." State v. Price, 126 Wn.App. 617, 637, 109 P.3d 27 (2005). At trial, Wilkins' only objection to N.H.'s statements regarding other children in the forensic interview was that depending on how these statements were classified they may have been in in conflict with the court's earlier ER 404(b) ruling. RP at 267-68. The court explained that the earlier ER 404(b) ruling was with regard to Wilkins' prior sex offense conviction and prior bad acts related to that. RP at 272. Because Wilkins' only objection was that the evidence was prohibited by the earlier ER 404(b) ruling, and this was not the court's ruling, by not raising a specific ER 404(b) objection to the evidence, Wilkins' failed to preserve this issue for review.8

"The general rule in Washington is that a party's failure to raise an issue at trial waives the issue on appeal unless the party can show the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Alternatively, Wilkins' attorney's statements may be viewed as a conditional objection, where he asked for an explanation to determine whether an objection was warranted, and after receiving an explanation, chose not to object.

presence of a 'manifest error affecting a constitutional right." State v. Robinson, 171 Wn.2d 292, 304, 253 P.3d 84 (2011) (quoting State v. Kirwin, 165 Wn.2d 818, 823, 203 P.3d 1044 (2009)); See also RAP 2.5(a). An error may be raised for the first time on appeal only for (1) lack of trial court jurisdiction, (2) failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted, or (3) manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a). "[A]n issue, theory, or argument not presented at trial will not be considered on appeal." State v. Jamison, 25 Wn.App. 68, 75, 604 P.2d 1017 (1979) (quoting Herberg v. Swartz, 89 Wn.2d 916, 578 P.2d 17 (1978)). The Supreme Court has explained: "This court has consistently held that, to preserve an alleged trial error for appellate review, a defendant must timely object to the introduction of the evidence or move to suppress it prior to or during the trial. Failure to challenge the admissibility of proffered evidence constitutes a waiver of any legal objection to its being considered as proper evidence by the trier of the facts." State v. Silvers, 70 Wn.2d 430, 432, 423 P.2d 539 (1967). Under RAP 2.5(a), an appellate court "may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court." This rule requires parties to bring purported errors to the trial court's attention, thus allowing the trial court

to correct them.<sup>9</sup> See State v. Fagalde, 85 Wn.2d 730, 731, 539 P.2d 86 (1975).

Appellate courts have regularly refused to consider new arguments that were not raised at trial. In State v. Sims, 77 Wn.App 236, 238, 890 P.2d 521 (1995), the court refused to hear the appellant's argument that hearsay statements were improperly admitted as excited utterances because the declarant had made inconsistent statements that indicated fabrication, when the argument had not been presented to the trial court, was not preserved for appeal. In State v. Saunders, 132 Wn.App. 592, 607, 132 P.3d 743 (2006), trial counsel had objected at trial to admission of the victim's statements as hearsay, but on appeal the defendant argued that the statements included an identification of the perpetrator and thus fell outside the medical diagnosis exception; because this was a new argument against the statements, the court refused to consider it. In State v. Mathes, 47 Wn.App. 863, 868, 737 P.2d 700 (1987), trial counsel had objected to the admission of a document as a recorded recollection, arguing the document was not authenticated because the witness had no independent recollection of the events, however on appeal, the argument shifted to a claim the document was not authenticated as the witness had

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Requiring parties to raise their objections in the trial court also allows for the development of a complete record regarding the alleged error.

not signed it. Though the objection remained the same, authentication, the appellate court steadfastly refused to consider the new claim. *Id.* 

Although an argument must be raised at trial to be preserved for review, in certain limited circumstances, appellate courts will consider arguments raised for the first time on appeal, but only where the legal standard for consideration has been satisfied. In *State v. Lynn*, 67 Wn.App. 339, 342, 835 P.2d 251 (1992), the Court of Appeals explained that the parameters of a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right" are not unlimited stating:

RAP 2.5(a)(3) does not provide that all asserted constitutional claims may be raised for the first time on appeal. Criminal law is so largely constitutionalized that most claimed errors can be phrased in constitutional terms.

An appellate court must first satisfy itself that the alleged error is of constitutional magnitude before considering claims raised for the first time on appeal. *Id.* at 343. But this does not mean that any claim of constitutional error is appropriate for review. For a reviewing court to consider such a claim, it must be "manifest", otherwise the word "manifest" could be removed from the rule. *Id.* The court explained: "[P]ermitting *every possible* constitutional error to be raised for the first time on appeal undermines the trial process, generates unnecessary

appeals, creates undesirable re-trials and is wasteful of the limited resources of prosecutors, public defenders, and courts." *Id.* at 344.

The court then provided the proper approach for analyzing whether an alleged constitutional error may be reviewed on appeal under RAP 2.5(a). *Id.* at 345. First, the reviewing court must make a cursory determination as to whether the alleged error in fact suggests a constitutional issue. *Id.* Second, the court must determine whether the alleged error is "manifest"; an essential part of this determination requires a plausible showing that the alleged error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial. *Id.* The term "manifest" means "unmistakable, evident or indisputable as distinct from obscure, hidden or concealed." *Id.* An error that is abstract and theoretical, does meet this definition. *Id.* at 346. Third, if the court finds the alleged error is manifest, then the court must address the merits of the constitutional issue. *Id.* at 345. Fourth, if the court determines an error was of constitutional import, it must then undertake a harmless error analysis. *Id.* 

Here, Wilkins' only objection at trial was that the evidence may have been prohibited by the court's earlier ER 404(b) hearing, depending on how N.H.'s statements were classified. RP at 267-68. This suggested that Wilkins' attorney did not believe the evidence was inadmissible unless it was classified as part of the evidence at issue in the earlier ER

404(b) ruling. The court explained that its earlier ER 404(b) ruling dealt with evidence that was distinct from N.H.'s references to other children. RP at 272. Wilkins' attorney did not object to this evidence on any other basis. Because Wilkins did not raise an independent ER 404(b) objection to this evidence at trial, he did not preserve this issue for appeal. Thus, for Wilkins to bring this issue for the first time on appeal he would need to show the court's ruling was a manifest error affecting a constitutional right.<sup>10</sup>

Wilkins fails to show a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. First, the evidence admitted suggests an evidentiary question rather than a constitutional issue, thus no constitutional right was involved. Second, the error is not manifest, it was unclear whether N.H.'s statement related to a specific prior incident or was simply a child globalizing what happened to her and assuming that there were other victims. If this was an error that reaches a constitutional question, it only does so in the abstract. And, because Wilkins' argument assumes the ER 404(b) issue was preserved despite his attorney's lack of an independent objection, he does not even provide a constitutional argument. Third, because the error does not suggest a constitutional issue, there are no constitutional merits to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The only issue that Wilkins arguably preserved is that this evidence was included in the court's ER 404(b) ruling. But to rule the issue was preserved would ignore the trial court's autonomy to determine the breadth of its own ruling.

evaluate. Fourth, any error in the admission of this evidence was harmless. Essentially the totality of what N.H. stated was that she believed Wilkins probably had sex with other kids, of whom she did not know the age or identity, and she thought the person who raped her was a bad person. This was not unexpected information from the victim of such a crime, nor would it have been unexpected for a person falsely accusing Wilkins of such a crime, as Wilkins attorney argued the statements showed. Considering the strength of the evidence corroborating N.H., there is no reason to believe N.H.'s statements regarding other children had any impact on the outcome of the trial. *See infra*, Part IV-C-2 at 40-42.

2. Because N.H.'s statements were not evidence of actual prior misconduct but simply her state of mind, it would not have been an abuse of discretion for the trial court to admit them had Wilkins properly objected.

Even if Wilkins had objected to the N.H.'s statements, the trial court would not have abused its discretion in admitting them because they were admissible to show her state of mind, which was crucial to assessing her credibility. "The decision whether to admit or refuse evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed in the absence of manifest abuse." *State v. Stubsjoen*, 48 Wn.App. 139, 147, 738 P.2d 306 (1987) (citing *State v. Laureano*, 101 Wn.2d 745, 764, 682 P.2d

889 (1984)). Because N.H.'s statements regarding other children were non-specific, qualified, and included her disclosure of her own victimization, they were best understood as a young child globalizing the harm to her. For these reasons, even if Wilkins had properly objected, the trial court would not have abused its discretion in admitting these statements. Additionally, in light of the weight of the evidence against Wilkins, at most their admission amounted to harmless error.

A trial court abuses its discretion when it bases its decision on unreasonable or untenable grounds. *State v. Rafay*, 167 Wn.2d 644, 655, 222 P.3d 86 (2009)). However, for a court to err in deciding an issue, the issue must necessarily be before that court. For example, when evidence is admitted under ER 404(b), the trial court is not required to *sua sponte* provide a limiting instruction when neither party requests such an instruction. *See State v. Russell*, 171 Wn.2d 118, 124, 249 P.3d 604 (2011). Further, the standard for admitting relevant evidence is low: "Evidence is relevant if it has 'any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination more or less probable than it would be without the evidence.' The threshold to admit relevant evidence is low and even minimally relevant evidence is admissible." *State v. Gregory*, 152 Wn.2d 759, 835, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006) (quoting ER 401; citing *State v. Darden*, 145 Wn.2d 612, 621, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002)).

When evidence is not evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts, it is not subject to ER 404(b) scrutiny. "ER 404(b) only prohibits the admission of such evidence for the purpose of demonstrating the criminal defendant's character in order to show activity in conformity with that character." State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 427, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). "ER 404(b) applies only to prior misconduct offered as substantive evidence." State v. Wilson, 60 Wn.App. 887, 891, 808 P.2d 754 (1991). (citing 5A K. Tegland, Wash. Prac., Evidence § 114 (3rd ed. 1989)). When "testimony was not offered to show the defendant's propensity for violence but was elicited to describe the state of mind of the victim," the Utah Supreme Court has ruled such evidence was not subject to Utah's equivalent of ER 404(b) because "the 'prior bad acts' of the defendant [were] not offered to prove his character or show 'that he acted in conformity therewith." State v. Bates, 784 P.2d 1126, 1127 (Utah 1989).

Additionally, even when a trial court errs in exercising its discretion, such error may be deemed harmless. "[E]rror is not prejudicial unless within reasonable probabilities, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected how the error not occurred." *State v. Tharp*, 96 Wn.2d 591, 599, 637 P.2d 961 (1981) (citing *State v. Cunningham*, 93 Wn.2d 823, 613 P.2d 1139 (1980)). Analysis of this issue depends on the nature of the error. Constitutional error is harmless when the conviction is

supported by overwhelming evidence. State v. Whelchel, 115 Wn.2d 708, 728, 801 P.2d 948 (1990); State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 425, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1020 (1986). Under this test, constitutional error requires reversal unless the reviewing court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result in absence of the error. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d at 425. Non-constitutional error requires reversal only if, within reasonable probabilities, it materially affected the outcome of the trail. State v. Halstien, 122 Wn.2d 109, 127, 857 P.2d 270 (1993); State v. Tharp, 96 Wn.2d 591, 599, 637 P.2d 961 1981); State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 93-94, 882 P.2d 747 (1994), U. S. cert. den. 115 S.Ct. 2004, 131 L. Ed. 2d 1005.

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